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APPENDIX I: PLANNING POLICY

Local Plan ( 2011 – 2029 ) 
The key policies within the Council’s Local Plan which 
are generally relevant to Warwick Castle are: 

1.	 Strategic Policy DS3 ( Supporting 
Sustainable Communities )

2.	 DS5 ( Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development )

3.	 PCO ( Prosperous Communities )

4.	 CT1 ( Directing New Tourism, Leisure 
and Cultural Development

5.	 CT2 ( Directing New or Extended 
Visitor Accommodation )

6.	 CT4 ( Extensions to Tourism, Cultural or 
Leisure Facilities in Rural Areas )

7.	 CT5 ( Camping and Caravan Sites )

8.	 CT6 ( Warwick Castle )

9.	 Overarching Policy: SCO ( Sustainable Communities )

10.	 BE3 ( Amenity )

11.	 TR1 ( Access and Choice )

12.	 TR2 ( Traffic Generation )

13.	 TR3 ( Parking )

14.	 CC1 ( Planning for Climate Change Adaption ) 

15.	 CC2 ( Planning for Renewable Energy 
and Low Carbon Generation )

16.	 FW1 ( Reducing flood risk )

17.	 FW2 ( Sustainable Urban Drainage )

18.	 HE1 ( Designated heritage assets and their setting )

19.	 HE2 ( Conservation Areas )

20.	 HE4 ( Archaeology )

21.	 NE2 ( Protecting Designated Biodiversity 
and Geodiversity Assets )

22.	 NE3 ( Biodiversity )

23.	 NE4 ( Landscape )

24.	 NE5 ( Protection of natural resources )
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APPENDIX 2: WARWICK CASTLE REGISTERED PARK AND GARDEN LISTED DESCRIPTION

List Entry Summary
This garden or other land is registered under the Historic 
Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the 
Register of Historic Parks and Gardens by English Heritage 
for its special historic interest. 

Name: WARWICK CASTLE

List entry Number: 1000386

Location
The garden or other land may lie within the boundary of 
more than one authority. 

County: Warwickshire

District: Warwick

District Type: District Authority

Parish: Barford

County: Warwickshire

District: Warwick

District Type: District Authority

Parish: Bishop's Tachbrook

County: Warwickshire

District: Warwick

District Type: District Authority

Parish: Warwick

National Park: Not applicable to this List entry.

Grade: I

Date first registered: 01 – Feb – 1986

Date of most recent amendment: Not 
applicable to this List entry.

Legacy System Information
The contents of this record have been generated from a 
legacy data system.

Legacy System: Parks and Gardens

UID: 1348

Asset Groupings
This list entry does not comprise part of an Asset Grouping. 
Asset Groupings are not part of the official record but are 
added later for information.

List entry Description
Summary of Garden

Legacy Record — This information may be included in the List 
Entry Details.

Reasons for Designation

Legacy Record — This information may be included in the List 
Entry Details.

History

Legacy Record — This information may be included in the List 
Entry Details.

Details

Mid C18 park and pleasure grounds landscaped by Lancelot 
Brown, with late C18 picturesque additions, together with mid 
C19 gardens designed by Robert Marnock and an early C20 
garden by Harold Peto, associated with a medieval fortress.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

The town of Warwick was laid out as a fortified burgh in AD 
914 by Ethelfleda, 'Lady of the Mercians', and in 1068 William 
I built a motte and bailey castle between the town and the 
north side of the River Avon. Henry de Beaumont ( d 1119 ), 
also known as de Newburgh, was appointed Constable of the 
royal castle, and was succeeded by six members of his family 
until the death of Thomas de Newburgh, Earl of Warwick in 
1242. In 1268 the Castle and earldom passed by inheritance 
to William de Beauchamp, ninth Earl ( d 1298 ). The eleventh 
Earl, who came of age in 1329, began a programme of 
rebuilding which was continued by his son, also Thomas, 
who inherited in 1369. The thirteenth Earl, Richard, who 
inherited in 1401, served as Captain of Calais under Henry 
V, while his son Henry, who succeeded as fourteenth Earl in 
1439, was created Duke of Warwick in 1445. The Duke died 
at the age of twenty in 1446 leaving a young daughter who 
died in 1449; the title and estates then passed to the late 
Duke's sister, Anne, wife of Richard Neville. Neville, known 
as 'The Kingmaker', played a prominent role in the Wars 
of the Roses, and was killed at the Battle of Barnet in 1471. 
Neville was succeeded by his son-in-law, George Plantagenet, 
Duke of Clarence, who was executed for treason in 1478; 
his son, although styled Earl of Warwick, spent most of his 
life in prison, until executed by Henry VII in 1499. Richard III, 
husband of Neville's second daughter, spent time at Warwick 
and made alterations to the buildings. 
 
Under Henry VII and Henry VIII the Castle remained royal 
property. Edward VI granted the Castle to John Dudley, Earl 
of Warwick and subsequently Duke of Northumberland, in 
1547; he was executed by Mary I in 1553, and was succeeded 
after the accession of Queen Elizabeth by his son, Ambrose, 
created Earl of Warwick in 1561. The Queen visited Warwick 
Castle on her progress to Kenilworth Castle ( qv ) in 1572. 
When Ambrose Dudley died without surviving issue in 1590, 
the Castle reverted to the Crown. James I separated the 
earldom from the Castle when in 1604 he granted the Castle 
to Sir Fulke Greville, and in 1618 created Robert Rich Earl 
of Warwick. Having seats at Holland House, London ( qv ) 
and Leighs Priory, Essex the Rich family did not maintain a 
residence at Warwick. 
 

Sir Fulke Greville, Treasurer of the Navy ( 1599 – 1604 ) and 
Chancellor of the Exchequer ( 1614 – 21 ), spent some £20,000 
restoring the Castle and laying out new gardens; it was visited 
by James I in 1617. Greville was created Baron Brooke in 1621, 
but in 1628 was murdered by one of his servants. The estate 
passed to his cousin, Robert Greville, second Lord Brooke, 
who supported Parliament in the Civil War and was killed at 
Lichfield in 1643, the same year that the Castle was besieged 
by Royalist forces for two weeks. The fourth Lord Brooke, 
who inherited in 1658, undertook a major programme of 
restoration and improvement between 1669 and 1678. Few 
changes were then made to the Castle until Francis, eighth 
Lord Brooke succeeded in 1727 ( created Earl of Warwick 
in 1759 ). Lord Brooke made alterations to the Castle from 
the mid 1740s, and in 1749 called in Lancelot Brown ( 1716 – 
83 ), then still gardener at Stowe, Buckinghamshire ( qv ) to 
complete the removal of the formal gardens; this process is 
shown in one of Canaletto's paintings of the Castle of c. 1749 
( Paul Mellon Collection ). Brown made further changes to the 
pleasure grounds in 1753, and from 1755 began to landscape 
Castle Park which was extended in 1760 by the enclosure 
of land in Barford parish. Warwick Castle is one of a group 
of sites in Warwickshire at which Brown advised in the 
mid and late C18; it includes Charlecote Park ( qv ), Combe 
Abbey ( qv ), Compton Verney ( qv ), Newnham Paddox ( qv ), 
Packington Hall ( qv ), and Ragley Hall ( qv ). 
 
The first Earl died in 1773 and was succeeded as second Earl 
by his son, George ( d 1816 ), who in 1786 extended Castle 
Park by diverting the Banbury Road. In 1802 the Earl was 
declared bankrupt, and while solvency was gradually restored 
few changes took place until the mid C19. The fourth Earl, 
who succeeded in 1853, employed Anthony Salvin ( 1799 – 
1881 ) to make improvements to the private apartments, while 
in 1868 – 9 Robert Marnock ( 1800 – 89 ) was commissioned 
to design new formal gardens. The Castle was seriously 
damaged by fire in 1871, but was restored by Salvin. The 
fourth Earl died in 1893, when he was succeeded as fifth Earl 
by Francis Richard, who was married to the heiress Frances 
Maynard, owner in her own right of Easton Lodge, Essex 
( qv ). Frances, known as Daisy, was an intimate of Edward VII, 
both as Prince of Wales and King; he was a frequent visitor 
to the Castle. Following the death of the fifth Earl in 1924 
the Castle remained in the Greville family until November 
1978 when the buildings, contents, and pleasure grounds 
were sold by the seventh Earl ( d 1984 ) to Madame Tussaud's; 
Castle Park was sold to a separate commercial purchaser.
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Plans for the development of the Park with two golf courses 
and an hotel were dismissed at public enquiry in 1991. 
Today, the site remains in divided commercial ownership.

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING 
Warwick Castle is situated c. 250m south-east of the centre 
of Warwick, to the north-west of the River Avon. The c. 
280ha site comprises some 23ha of gardens and pleasure 
grounds, and c. 257ha of parkland. The site is bounded to 
the north-west by Castle Lane from which it is separated 
by a late C18 stone wall ( listed grade II ) c. 3m high, and by 
domestic premises in Castle Close. To the north-north-east 
the boundary is formed by a late C18 stone wall ( listed grade 
II* ) which separates the grounds from domestic properties 
on the west side of Mill Street, and by the river frontage of 
properties on the east side of Mill Street up to and including 
the late C18 Castle Bridge ( listed grade II* ). The north-east 
boundary is marked by Park House, Greville House, and other 
properties on the west side of Bridge End, while the east 
boundary is formed by the A425 Banbury Road, from which 
the park is separated by timber fences. To the south-east the 
site is bounded by the B4462 road which leads south-west to 
Barford, and to the south the boundary is formed by a late 
C20 cutting accommodating the A452 and M40 roads. The 
south-west boundary adjoins agricultural land, while to the 
west the site adjoins agricultural land, light industrial premises, 
and mid C20 domestic properties to the east of the A429 
Stratford Road, Leyfields Crescent, and Temple Grove. The 
River Avon flows in a serpentine course through the site from 
north to south-west, while the Tach or Ram Brook enters the 
site from the east and flows to its confluence with the River 
Avon c. 1.2km south-south-east of the Castle; the Tach Brook 
is dammed to form a lake, the New Waters, which extends 
east to the Banbury Road. To the west and north-east of the 
River Avon the site is generally level and forms the flood plain 
of the river. To the north the ground rises steeply above the 
river to the Castle, while Temple Hill rises c. 530m south-
east of the Castle and c. 400m east of the river. Temple Hill is 
separated from further rising ground at the south-east corner 
of the site by New Waters, while to the south of the river, c. 
1.5km south of the Castle, the ground rises steeply to a level 
plateau which extends to the south and south-east boundary 
of the site. There is a complex system of vistas within the 
site with particularly significant reciprocal views of the Castle 
from Spiers Lodge and Temple Hill. 

There are also important views of the town from Spiers 
Lodge; this view was painted by Paul Sandby in 1776 
( WCRO ). From Castle Bridge on Banbury Road there are 
significant designed views south-west down the river to the 
Castle and the ruins of the medieval bridge which are framed 
by gardens attached to properties in Mill Street and Bridge 
End; there is a reciprocal view of the river, gardens, and 
bridges from within the Castle. From the walls and towers 
of the Castle there are extensive views in all directions, and 
particularly across the Castle Park to surrounding agricultural 
land and late C20 commercial development at Heathcote.

ENTRANCES AND APPROACHES 

Warwick Castle is approached from the A425 Banbury 
Road to the north-east, where the entrance is marked by a 
late C18 lodge ( listed grade II ). This structure comprises a 
crenellated, single-storey stone block with a central gothic 
carriage arch closed by a pair of timber doors; the lodge was 
built in 1796 ( 7 by Samuel Muddiman and John Williams as 
part of the second Earl's improvements. The lodge leads to 
a tarmac drive which sweeps west and south for c. 100m 
through a cutting in the sandstone bedrock. This picturesque 
approach was constructed by the second Earl in 1797 when 
existing properties in Back Hill were demolished. The drive 
emerges from the cutting and passes through C19 cast-iron 
gates to reveal a wide panorama of the north-east facade of 
the Castle. Sweeping south-east between areas of lawn for 
c. 100m the drive passes across a dry moat on a mid C17 
stone bridge to reach the mid C15 barbican and gatehouse. 
The south-east section of the drive was constructed by the 
second Earl in the late C18 when the stables and forecourt 
constructed north-east of the Castle in 1664 were cleared 
away. The second Earl's picturesque drive was praised by 
Prince Puckler-Muskau in 1826 ( Butler 1927 ), but was 
criticised as resembling a 'drift way to a mine' by JC Loudon 
 in 1831 ( Gardener's Mag ). 
 
Within the Castle the courtyard is laid out with a gravel 
carriage turn enclosing an elliptical-shaped lawn. To the 
south the courtyard adjoins the Mount which is planted with 
evergreen shrubbery and specimen trees, while to the west 
and north of the carriage turn there are further areas of lawn 
planted with mature specimen pines. 

A gateway in the western curtain wall, flanked by two low 
late C15 towers, the Clarence and Bear Towers, leads to 
the pleasure grounds, while a further gateway at the south-
west corner of the courtyard leads to a carriage drive which 
passes through the pleasure grounds to Castle Park. A further 
gateway in the C14 Watergate Tower at the south-east end of 
the courtyard leads to the river and pleasure grounds; in the 
late C16 this gate led to the formal gardens. The courtyard 
was laid out in its present form by Lancelot Brown for Lord 
Brooke in 1753; the porch and steps ascending from the 
courtyard to the Great Hall were also constructed to Brown's 
design in 1753 ( Tyack 1994 ). 
 
Visitors today approach the Castle from vehicular entrances 
on Stratford Road c. 590m south-west of the Castle, and 
Castle Lane c. 100m north-west of the Castle. A late C20 
car park is situated in shrubbery parallel to the north-west 
boundary, with a further area of mid C20 car parking north 
of the stables. The mid C18 stables ( listed grade II* ) c. 100m 
north-north-west of the Castle have been converted in 
the late C20 to provide the visitors' entrance and facilities. 
The two-storey, stone and hipped-roof stable blocks are 
constructed around three sides of a courtyard with a 
pediment surmounting a carriage arch in the south-east range 
leading to the pleasure grounds. The stables were constructed 
c. 1768 – 71 by Job Collins, possibly to a design by Robert 
Mylne.

PRINCIPAL BUILDING 

Warwick Castle ( listed grade I; part scheduled ancient 
monument ) stands on a bluff of high ground to the north-
west of the River Avon, the steep bank of which is encased 
behind a high C16 retaining wall from which the walls of the 
state and private apartments rise. The Castle is constructed 
around an approximately rectangular courtyard, with the 
mid C11 motte, known as Ethelfleda's Mount, situated to 
the south-west and the domestic ranges to the south-east. 
The C14 Watergate Tower connects the domestic ranges 
to a curtain wall which ascends the east face of the Mount 
to reach a crenellated wall, gateway, and two turrets on the 
summit of the Mount. A further curtain wall descends the 
north face of the Mount to connect with the curtain wall 
which encloses the west side of the courtyard. 

A pair of low, octagonal, late C15 towers, the Bear and 
Clarence Towers flank an entrance in the centre of the 
west wall; these towers were built by Richard III as part of a 
keep which remained incomplete in 1485 ( guidebook ). The 
north-east or entrance facade of the Castle is dominated 
by two massive late C14 towers which are connected 
to a central late C14 gatehouse and barbican by further 
crenellated curtain walls. The north-west tower, known 
as Guy's Tower, is twelve-sided on plan and rises some 
six storeys to a machicolated parapet. The south-east or 
Caesar's Tower, of slightly earlier construction, has a trilobed 
plan; the lower section rises some four storeys above a 
battered basement which is a prominent feature at the 
southern end of Mill Street. The two-storey upper section 
rises from a machicolated parapet and is surmounted by a 
crenellated parapet. A late C17 single-storey range known as 
the Armoury, but constructed as a laundry and brewhouse, 
abuts the outer face of the curtain wall between the barbican 
and Caesar's Tower. The domestic range to the east of the 
courtyard comprises two-storey private apartments to the 
north of the two-storey state apartments; a further three-
storey range adjoins the state apartments to the south. The 
domestic ranges were constructed at various dates from 
the mid C14, with the buildings at the southern end having 
been rebuilt by Sir Fulke Greville in the early C17. The state 
apartments retain significant late C17 and mid C18 interiors. 
The private apartments, which had also been remodelled in 
the mid C18, were reconstructed by Salvin following a serious 
fire in 1871. 
 
Immediately below and to the south-east of the Castle the 
single-storey Castle Mill ( listed grade II* ) adjoins a weir 
extending across the river. The Mill was rebuilt in Gothic 
style by Timothy Lightoler in 1767 – 8, possibly incorporating 
elements of an earlier mill which had stood on this site 
since the medieval period. In 1894 a water-driven electric 
generator was installed in the Mill. Stone walls connected 
with the water supply to the Mill extend north-east from the 
building through the garden of 55 Mill Street.

GARDENS AND PLEASURE GROUNDS 

Informal pleasure grounds lie to the north, west, and south-
west of the Castle, with formal gardens to the north and 
north-west. 
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To the north of the Castle the pleasure grounds comprise 
lawns, specimen trees, and evergreen shrubbery which slope 
down from the stables to the north-north-west to the moat. 
The moat is a dry ditch which extends west from Caesar's 
Tower below the north-east and west walls of the Castle to 
the Mount. A carriage drive sweeps south from the south-
west gateway from the courtyard, passing to the west of the 
Mount before turning south-west to follow the north-west 
bank of the River Avon for c. 270m, then turning west to 
cross the south-west end of a lawn known as Pageant Field. 
This lawn is enclosed to east and west by mature specimen 
trees and mixed ornamental shrubbery, and descends from 
the late C19 formal garden to the river. To the south-west 
of the Pageant Field and to the south of a small stream, an 
area of mixed specimen trees and shrubbery known as Foxes 
Study extends c. 250m to the boundary between the pleasure 
grounds and Castle Park, which is marked by a late C20 fence. 
A footbridge crosses the stream from Pageant Field and leads 
to a C19 avenue of deodar cedars which passes south-west 
through Foxes Study to a gate leading to the park. The late 
C20 Estate Management building and compound is situated at 
the southern end of Foxes Study. 
 
A further drive leads south-east below the Mount to reach 
a late C20 timber bridge which crosses the river c. 80m 
south-south-west of the Castle to an island which extends 
c. 650m north-east to south-west below the Castle. There 
are significant views up river from the bridge and island 
to the Castle Mill and the remains of the medieval bridge 
( listed grade I; scheduled ancient monument ) c. 80m east 
of the Castle. Stone arches and cut-waters from this C15 
bridge survive in three sections, including one section 
now ( 2000 ) in the garden of 55 Mill Street. The bridge, 
which was until 1788 the main route into Warwick from 
the south, was retained and deliberately enhanced as a 
picturesque feature ( Dr Hodgetts pers comm, 2000 ) by 
the second Earl when he constructed a new bridge, Castle 
Bridge ( listed grade II* ), c. 350m east of the Castle to 
designs by David and Robert Saunders in 1788 – 93; the 
picturesquely ruined old bridge is shown in a late C18 
or early C19 view in the Aylesford Collection ( BRLA ). 
Some 160m south-south-west of the Castle, a single-
storey timber and thatch-roofed boathouse stands on the 
north-west bank of the island. This was constructed in 
1896 for Lady Warwick, and from 1898 housed an electric 
launch used to reach Spiers Lodge in Castle Park by river 
( guidebook ); the boathouse was restored in the late C20. 

A stone bridge c. 130m south-east of the Castle leads from 
the south-east bank of the island across the river channel to 
Castle Park. In the late C19 and early C20 Lady Warwick used 
the island to house a menagerie. The trees at the north-east 
end of the island correspond to a plantation formed by Brown 
to frame the view of the river and old bridge c. 1750  
( CL 1979 ). 
 
A serpentine walk leads north-east from the drive c. 20m 
north-east of the barbican through a series of wrought-iron 
rose arches to reach a formal rose garden ( restored 1984 
– 6 ) which is situated on a level area of ground enclosed to 
the north, east, and west by banks planted with evergreen 
shrubbery and specimen trees. The rose garden comprises 
a series of box-edged geometric beds cut in panels of lawn 
separated by gravel walks. The garden is quatrefoil-shaped 
on plan, and is enclosed by shrub roses and regularly spaced 
cast-iron pillars supporting further roses. The rose garden 
was designed in 1868 by Robert Marnock and constructed 
in 1869 ( plans, WCRO ). To the west of the rose garden a 
rock garden incorporating a cascade and pool is set against 
the enclosing bank. This was constructed in 1900 by James 
Backhouse and Son of York, in part using artificial stone 
( guidebook; plan, WCRO ). Some 10m south-west of the 
rose garden two brick-lined icehouses ( constructed c. 1830, 
guidebook ) are set into the enclosing bank. 
 
A walk leading north-west from the Bear and Clarence 
Towers turns south-west for c. 130m to form a terrace walk 
backed by a high yew hedge which runs along the north-
west side of the lawn; this walk leads to a formal flower 
garden c. 160m west of the Castle. Known as the Peacock 
or Italian Garden, the flower garden is hexagonal on plan 
with geometric yew and box-edged beds arranged on three 
panels of lawn divided by three gravel walks; the hedges are 
ornamented with topiary peacocks and the parterre radiates 
from a central circular stone-edged pool. To the north of the 
parterre a flight of stone steps ascends to a gravel terrace, 
above which a further flight of stone steps ascends to a 
stone-flagged terrace below the late C18 conservatory. The 
flower garden was laid out to designs by Robert Marnock in 
1869 ( plans, WCRO ); plans for an Italian garden had been 
provided by William Broderick Thomas ( 1811 – 98 ) in 1865 
( WCRO ); Bateman's plan of 1845 ( WCRO ) shows lawns 
sweeping down to the river. The conservatory ( listed grade 
II* ) comprises a single-storey stone structure lit by five tall 
gothic-arched windows in the south facade under an early 

C20 glazed roof ( replaced late C20 ). The interior has a 
stone-flagged floor with inset stone-kerbed planting beds and 
an apsidal recess to the north. The conservatory was built in 
1786 – 8 to designs by William Eborall to accommodate the 
Warwick Vase, a monumental C4 Greek marble urn from 
Hadrian's Villa, Tivoli, which was acquired by the second Earl 
from Sir William Hamilton in 1774; the Vase was first placed 
at the centre of the Castle courtyard and is shown in this 
position in a view in the Aylesford Collection ( BRLA ). The 
conservatory was restored in 1989 and today ( 2000 ) contains 
ornamental planting and a late C20 copy of the Warwick 
Vase, the original having been sold by the seventh Earl to the 
Burrell Collection, Glasgow in 1978. There is a vista from the 
conservatory and flower garden south across the Pageant 
Field to the River Avon. 
 
The pleasure grounds achieved their present form under 
Francis, Lord Brooke in the mid C18 when Lancelot Brown 
completed the removal of the formal gardens south and 
south-east of the Castle, and a hamlet, High Ladsome, 
which occupied the site of the Pageant Field; the pleasure 
grounds are shown on a plan of 1776 – 80 ( WCRO ) and 
a plan of 1845 by James Bateman ( WCRO ). The walled 
formal gardens are shown on a plan of 1711 by James Fish 
and Charles Bridgman ( WCRO ), and comprised several 
parterres and a large greenhouse which was constructed 
in 1695. The medieval motte was adapted as a viewing 
mount with a spiral walk ascending to the summit from 
the Watergate Tower. The summit was planted in the late 
C17 with a single pine tree which was noted by Thomas 
Baskerville c. 1678 ( VCH ). The formal gardens south of 
the Castle probably originated as the 'Queen's Garden' 
mentioned in a survey of 1576 ( VCH; guidebook ) and 
were described by Leland c. 1534 as 'a second Eden ... 
adorn'd with all kinds of delightful and shady walkes, and 
Arbours, pleasant Groves, and wildernesses, fruitful Trees, 
delicious Bowers, oderiferous Herbes, and fragrant Flowers' 
( Toulmin-Smith 1907 – 10 ). In 1634 Dugdale commented 
that the gardens were 'a place ... [of] extraordinary delight, 
with most pleasant Gardens, walks and Thickets, such as 
this part of England can hardly parallel' ( Dugdale 1730 ).

PARK

Castle Park extends south and south-east of the Castle, 
and lies principally to the east and south of the River Avon 
which flows through the park from north to south-west. 

The park is today ( 2000 ) in mixed agricultural use with level 
pasture planted with some scattered specimen trees surviving 
to the south of the Castle, to both east and west of the 
river. The park is enclosed to the east by a predominantly 
deciduous plantation which screens the Banbury Road which 
was diverted to its present course by the second Earl in 
1782 – 7. To the south-east Nursery Wood is a late C18 
mixed plantation on high ground, while a further late C18 
boundary plantation screens the B4462 Barford Road which 
was constructed in 1772 – 92. Barford Wood bounds the 
park to the south on land added to the park after the Barford 
enclosure in 1760, and further plantations known as Ashbeds 
Wood and The Lilacs screen the western boundary; these 
plantations are shown on a plan of 1791 ( WCRO ). There are 
further plantations within the park, including c. 450m south-
east of the Castle Lord Brooke's Clump, and Leafield Privet c. 
1.3km south-south-west of the Castle. Temple Hill Plantation 
c. 900m south-east of the Castle is today ( 2000 ) a mid C20 
commercial coniferous plantation, while scattered mature 
specimen trees survive on the west-facing slope of Temple 
Hill overlooking the river. 
 
Some 1.5km south of the Castle, Spiers Lodge ( listed grade 
II* ), a mid C18 gothic hunting lodge stands above a steep 
north-facing slope above the River Avon. Lodge Wood, a late 
C18 plantation, extends c. 250m south and c. 500m from 
north-east to south-west along the crest of the escarpment, 
incorporating C17 avenues which were retained by Brown in 
his mid C18 improvements ( plans, 1776 – 80; 1791, WCRO ). 
Spiers Lodge was rebuilt in Gothic style c. 1748, perhaps with 
the advice of Sanderson Miller ( 1716 – 80 ) ( CL 1979 ), on 
the site of a lodge which had been associated with a medieval 
warren. The warren existed by 1268, while a warrener was 
appointed to keep the warren of 'Whitlogge' in 1460 ( VCH ). 
In the mid C16 the lodge and associated land was let, and 
it gained its name from a subsequent, early C17 tenant; by 
1745 the lodge was no longer let ( ibid ). In the early C20 the 
lodge was renovated as a private retreat for Lady Warwick 
and provided with formal gardens designed by Harold Peto 
( plans, c. 1905, WCRO ). The gardens comprise topiary yew 
peacocks flanking a stone-flagged walk which leads from an 
early C20 wrought-iron gate to the entrance in the south 
facade of the house. To the east of the house a rose garden is 
divided into quarters by stone-flagged walks which pass under 
a timber pergola ( reconstructed late C20 ); the centre of the 
garden is marked by a stone baluster sundial. A rectangular 
bowling green lies to the north and below the rose garden.
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It is enclosed to the north by a yew hedge and terminates to 
the east in a semicircular flagged, stone-walled recess and seat. 
A Gothic-arched loggia attached to the north facade of the 
lodge is approached from a stone-flagged terrace by flights of 
steps to the east and west; there are extensive views across 
the park to the Castle and town. An early C20 wrought-iron 
gate leads from the terrace to a path which descends through 
shrubbery to a landing-stage on the river. To the west of the 
lodge there is an area of lawn planted with mature specimen 
trees including C18 cedars. Outside the formal gardens, some 
50m east of the lodge, the tiled base and other fragments of an 
early C20 timber summerhouse ( vandalised 1999 ) survive in 
the woodland; the summerhouse commands an extensive view 
across the park to the Castle. A flight of steps descends from 
the summerhouse to a landing-stage. These structures formed 
part of Peto's early C20 scheme for the Countess of Warwick. 
 
Some 1.3km south-east of the Castle, New Waters forms a 
serpentine, approximately rectangular lake which extends c. 
800m from the Banbury Road ( east ) boundary to a substantial 
stone and earth dam above the River Avon to the west; the 
park circuit carriage drive is carried across the dam. The 
eastern end of the lake is framed by Temple Hill Wood to the 
north, and Nursery Wood to the south. A tributary stream 
which flows into the lake from the south is dammed to form 
a chain of three ponds known as The Stews. New Waters 
was created in 1789 when a canal constructed by Brown in 
1761 ( plan, 1776 – 80, WCRO ) was enlarged and extended 
to the east following the diversion of the Banbury Road ( plan, 
1791, WCRO ). The late C18 earth dam failed in 1809, and was 
replaced by the present stone structure. From New Waters 
the mid C18 carriage drive survives, ascending c. 370m south-
west through Lodge Wood before turning west for c. 270m 
and passing south of Spiers Lodge. The drive then descends 
the escarpment, sweeping south-west and north, to cross the 
river on the late C18 Leafield Bridge ( listed grade II ). This 
single-arched stone bridge, ornamented with Coade stone 
keystones and medallions, and with fluted balustrades ( mostly 
removed, 2000 ), was constructed in 1772 – 6 to a design by 
Robert Mylne; it replaced a timber bridge constructed by 
Brown in 1758. From the bridge there are significant views up 
river across the park towards the Castle. The carriage drive 
continues for c. 930m north of Leafield Bridge to re-enter the 
pleasure grounds at the southern end of Foxes Study, c. 640m 
south-west of the Castle. 

To the west of the carriage drive, c. 270m north of Leafield 
Bridge, Leafield Barn is a group of C19 and C20 agricultural 
buildings; a further group of early C19 brick cottages and barns, 
Barford Sheds, stand c. 480m south-south-east of Spiers Lodge; 
Barford Sheds were converted to domestic use in 1999. 
 
Castle Park, originally known as Temple Park, was first 
enclosed by Francis, Lord Brooke ( later first Earl ) in 1743 from 
agricultural land to the south of the Castle which had been 
associated with the Castle since the C14. In the early C17 Fulke 
Greville had planted avenues across this land to Temple Hill, 
creating a vista from the Mount and Castle ( James Fish, 1690 ); 
the principal north / south avenue was 'broken' by Brown c. 
1755 as part of his improvements carried out for the first Earl 
( plans, 1743; 1776 – 80, WCRO ). Other avenues were retained 
by Brown, but were subsequently removed or altered in the 
late C18 by the first or second Earls ( CL 1979 ). The Leafield 
was incorporated into Temple Park c. 1745 ( VCH ), and land 
associated with houses in Bridge End demolished in 1755( 60 
was also added to the park. Further expansion to the south 
took place at the enclosure of Barford parish in 1760; the 
incorporation of this land was Brown's last work at Warwick. 
The final expansion of the park took place in 1782 – 7 when the 
Banbury Road was diverted c. 400m east of its previous course. 
The second Earl planted new boundary plantations along the 
road, replacing those planted along the former road boundary 
by Brown in the mid C18. The final form of the park is shown 
on a plan of 1791 ( WCRO ) and a survey by William James of 
1806 ( WCRO ). In the late C18 parts of the park were used for 
agricultural purposes ( estate accounts; VCH ). 
 
The medieval Earls of Warwick held an extensive deer park 
of C13 origin ( VCH ) at Wedgnock, c. 3km north-west of 
Warwick; this park included the manor of Goodrest. In 1597 
Sir Fulke Greville was appointed Ranger of Wedgnock Park by 
the Crown. In 1743 many of the deer were transferred from 
Wedgnock to the new Temple Park, but as late as 1910 a small 
enclosure containing deer survived at Wedgnock. The farmland 
enclosed from the park in the mid C18 was sold by the Estate 
in 1959 ( ibid ). Wedgnock Park is not included in the site here 
registered.

KITCHEN GARDEN 

The late C18 kitchen garden was situated c. 400m west-south-
west of the Castle. The site was developed with domestic 
properties, Castle Close, in the mid and late C20.

The garden is shown on the 1st edition 1" OS map of 1834 and 
Bateman's plan of 1845.

The kitchen garden was constructed c. 1790 to replace the 
garden known as the Vineyard. The Vineyard was situated 
adjacent to Castle Lane, approximately on the site of the 
mid C18 stables, the construction of which truncated the 
garden in 1767. The remainder of the garden was taken into 
the pleasure grounds c. 1790 ( VCH ). A vineyard had been 
associated with the Castle estate since as early as 1268 and 
provided herbage in the medieval period ( ibid ). A house 
associated with the vineyard existed by the late C16 when the 
vineyard was described as comprising an orchard and garden 
of 4 1/2 acres ( c. 1.8ha ) within a stone wall ( ibid ). The garden 
is shown on Fish and Bridgman's plan of 1711 ( WCRO ), and a 
plan of 1788 by Matthias Baker ( WCRO ).
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APPENDIX 3: LISTING DESCRIPTIONS FOR THE BUILDINGS

WARWICK CASTLE ( GRADE I )

Early site, probably dating from pre-Norman times. Much 
mediaeval work remains. Good C18 and later additions. In 
1871 a fire gutted the Great Hall and East Wing, these being 
restored by Anthony Salvin. This castle, ( containing a fine 
collection of antiques and works of art ) is considered of very 
great national interest. Main block with C14 walls and vaulted 
undercroft. Caesan’s tower and Guy’s tower, the Gatehouse 
and its Barbican also C14. The curtain walls may date from 
this period. Bear and Clarence towers C15, left incomplete 
1485 and later given battlements; probably intended as a 
stronghold within the castle similar to that at Raglan. Late C17 
internal features include exceptional plasterwork and wood 
carvings to the Cedar Room by Roger and William Hurlbut, 
completed 1678. Altered 1753 – 5 by Lancelot Brown, who 
rebuilt the porch and stairway to the Great Hall. Porch 
extended forward and additional rooms built beside it, 1763 
– 9, by Timothy Lightoler. Watergate tower restored by A 
Salvin 1861 – 3. AM. VCH, viii, pp. 454 – 64. 
 
Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
Conservatory, Mill and Lodge form a group.

CONSERVATORY ( GRADE II* )

Late C18, 1786 – 8. Ashlar conservatory of 1 tall room, 
rectangular with segmental apse at back, 5 large pointed 
arched sashes with stone chamfered mullions and transoms, 
pointed arched glazing bars, flush chamfered surrounds. 
Plinth, cavetto cornice, parapet with moulded coping. Hipped 
tiled roof. Architect: William Eboral. Contains the celebrated 
Warwick Vase, of white marble, probably C4 Greek by 
Lysippus of Sicyon. Discovered 1770 at Hadrian’s Villa, bought 
by Sir William Hamilton who sold it to his nephew Grange 
Greville, 2nd Earl of Warwick of the 4th creation. Inscribed 
marble pedestal of 1774. VCH, viii, p. 463.

 
Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
Conservatory Mill and Lodge form a group. 

STABLES WARWICK CASTLE ( GRADE II* )

Circa 1768 – 71, built by Job Collins, perhaps to designs 
by Robert Mylne. Ashlar, sandstone, courtyard plan built 
up round 3 sides. Hipped old tiled roof. 2 storeys, leaded 
casements under flat arches, cornice moulding. Central 
slightly projecting pediment over window and arched opening 
set in round headed reveal. VCH, viii, p. 462. 
 
Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
Conservatory, Mill and Lodge form a group.

MILL ( GRADE II * )

On medieval site and perhaps incorporating early structure, 
largely rebuilt 1767 – 8 by Timothy Lightoler. Gutted by fire 
1880. Ashlar, castellated with low turret. Welsh slate roof. 
Single storey. VCH, viii, pp. 473 – 4. 
 
Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
Conservatory, Mill and Lodge form a group.

REMAINS OF OLD CASTLE BRIDGE ( GRADE II* )

II* Ruin of late medieval stone, ashlar, bridge over the River 
Avon by weir. Sections of: three complete arches in centre of 
river, one arch by north bank and arch on south bank remain. 
Simple chamfered moulding to 4-centred arches. Splayed piers 
hare cutwaters, up stream and down. AM.

PORTION OF BOUNDARY WALL TO WARWICK 
CASTLE ABUTTING MILL STREET ( GRADE II* )

Late C18. Probably by William Eborall. Ashlar, moulded 
coping. Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
Conservatory, Mill and Lodge form a group.

PORTION OF BOUNDARY WALL TO WARWICK 
CASTLE ABUTTING WEST PART OF CASTLE LANE 
( GRADE II )

1789 by William Eborall. Ashlar. Part.of the improvements 
to the grounds of Warwick Castle commissioned by George 
Greville, 2nd Earl. Sandstone, moulded coping. 
 
Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
Conservatory, Mill and Lodge form a group.

PORTION OF BOUNDARY WALL TO WARWICK 
CASTLE ABUTTING CASTLE HILL AND EAST PART OF 
CASTLE LANE ( GRADE II )

Ashlar. 1789 by William Eborall. Part of the improvements 
to the grounds of Warwick Castle commissioned by George 
Greville, 2nd Earl. Sandstone, moulded coping. 
 
Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
conservatory, Mill and Lodge form a group.

WARWICK CASTLE LODGE ( GRADE II )

1796 – 7 by Samuel Muddiman and John Williams. Rectangular 
ashlar block with Neo-Gothic details, including crenellated 
parapet. Large central 4-centred chamfered arch with 2 fold 
gate. VCH, viii, p. 464. 
 
Warwick Castle, with its Boundary Walls, Stables, 
Conservatory, Mill and Lodge form a group.
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APPENDIX 4: MASTERPLAN PUBLIC CONSULTATION

INTRODUCTION 

This appendix explains the engagement undertaken by, 
Warwick Castle as part of the preparation of its Masterplan. 

The Masterplan has been prepared to satisfy Warwick Local 
Plan Policy CT6 which requires proposals at Warwick Castle to 
be brought forward in line with an approved Masterplan. 

The Masterplan sets out the projects that this leading UK 
attraction might pursue over the next five to ten years.  
They cover heritage maintenance, infrastructure and some 
development to ensure the Castle remains an attractive and 
relevant venue for both heritage and family visitors.  Each 
project would require a separate planning and/or listed 
building application/scheduled monument consent and public 
consultation where relevant.  

Following engagement with Warwick District Council (WDC) 
and other stakeholders, the Castle held a Public Exhibition over 
three days in September to engage the community and obtain 
feedback on the Masterplan. To ensure that attendees felt 
confident they could engage in the process they were given the 
opportunity to provide written comments on a feedback form 
prepared for the event. 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

Warwick Castle has previously presented an early version of 
the Masterplan to Warwick Town Council, the Conservation 
Area Forum and their Neighbours Forum group. It has also 
been discussed with Council Officers.  We set out the key 
dates below:

•	 Conservation Area Forum (10 August 2017 and 31 
October 2019).

•	 Warwick Town Council (6 December 2018).

•	 Neighbours Forum- a full presentation was given by 
Warwick Castle on 20 June 2o17. Updates were presented 
at each subsequent meeting (10 November 2017, 27 March 
2018, 20 June 2018, 8 October 2018, 8 April 2019, 11 July 
2019 and 15 October 2019).

•	 Annual planning meeting with WDC and Historic England 
(4 May 2017 and 18 May 2018).

•	 Chamber of Trade- a full presentation was given by the 
Castle on 19 December 2017 and a verbal update was 

provided 13 November 2018. 

•	 Bridge End Residents Association (11 Oct 2019).

PUBLIC CONSULTATION

The public consultation events on the proposed Masterplan 
consisted of a Public Exhibitions held over three days (Saturday 
7th, Sunday 8th and Monday 9th September) and at different 
times to give a variety of opportunities for people to attend.

A Press Release was published (3rd September 2019) in the 
Warwick Courier which detailed the forthcoming public 
consultation. 

Public Consultation Format

The Public Consultation was held over three days at Warwick 
Castle, Warwick, CV34 4QU. The event was held at the 
following times and locations:

1.	 Saturday 7th and Sunday 8th September (9am to 12pm) in 
the upstairs of the Coach House Restaurant;

2.	 Monday 9th September (5pm to 7pm) in the State  
Dining Room. 

The Consultation took the form of a presentation of the 
Masterplan via images on boards with accompanying written 
explanations and was run as a ‘drop in’. The boards displayed 
the key projects and ideas the Castle may develop over the 
coming years; providing an overview of the background and 
design principles. At least one management team member from 
the Castle was available to explain the proposals and answer 
queries throughout the events. 

Feedback Format

Local residents, businesses and visitors attending the public 
exhibitions were able to provide verbal feedback and comments 
to the team. A written comments form was available to fill out 
at the exhibition. 

PUBLIC CONSULTATION FEEDBACK 

The public exhibition was attended by a total of around 100 
attendees overall. And a total of 32 feedback forms  
were completed. 

The responses received to the survey are summarised below.

Question 1: 

Warwick Castle is a major visitor attraction and local 
employer. Do you agree that we should continue to 
improve facilities at the attraction?

87.5% of respondents agreed that Warwick Castle should 
continue to improve facilities at the attraction. The remaining 
12.5% were unsure. There were a number of additional points 
raised in the ‘further comments’ section. These have been 
reviewed and grouped into the key themes set out below: 

Impact on Heritage Assets: Improvement works were 
generally welcomed; however future projects need to be 
sensitive to the Castle’s heritage setting and not impact on 
heritage assets or green open areas.  

Education: A number of respondents made reference to the 
educational benefits of Warwick Castle. It is important that the 
Castle continues to provide attractions and events that teach 
people about history in an interactive way. It is important that 
attractions are ‘historically’ correct. 

Design: New facilities should be sympathetic in height and 
constructed with appropriate materials. 

Noise: Respondents (in particular local residents) raised 
concerns in relation to noise levels from new developments. 

Local Economy: Respondents would like new developments 
to encourage use of the town centre, local businesses and 
other local attractions. 

Projects: A number of comments related to specific projects 
e.g. support for the refurbishment of Porter’s Lodge as a guest 
lodge and for the refurbishment of the playground. It was noted 
that the maze is currently in a poor condition. 

Question 2

Warwick Castle has considered the impact of future 
developments on transport, ecology, landscape, noise, 
neighbours proximity, heritage impact etc. Are there any  
other specific issues that you consider the long-term plan 
should address?

A number of respondents stated that the plans look positive for 
the Castle with the town centre benefiting from an enhanced 
visitor destination. A number of specific points were raised. 
These covered the key themes set out below.

Transport: Consideration needs to be given to the traffic 
impacts resulting from new development, particularly along 
Castle Lane. The accident potential of Castle Street/Castle 
Lane/Pedestrian crossing from town entrance to Castle Street 
was also raised. 

Access: Respondents would like to see improvements to 
pedestrian access. Plans for footpath alongside vehicle access 
from Stratford Road are welcomed. 

Noise: Noise was raised as a concern. Respondents would like 
to see a reduction in noise pollution from events at the Castle; 
especially with future proposals coming forward. 

Heritage Conservation: Respondents consider that future 
developments will need to protect the heritage assets and 
character of the Grade 1 Registered Park and Garden. 

Tourism/Community Integration: Future developments 
should consider the social, cultural and economic impacts on 
the local area. It is important that the Castle is not developed 
in isolation from the town. Clear signage would be welcomed 
directing visitors to the town centre.  

Infrastructure: Existing infrastructure will need to be able to 
cope with any increased traffic and visitor footfall in the  
town centre. 

Sustainability: The Castle need to consider the sustainability 
of any new buildings proposed. 

Question 3 

Do you support the development of these other 
facilities at Warwick Castle?

Figure 2 identifies the level of support for each of the 
Masterplan proposals. It was noted that it was difficult to give to 
comprehensive view without seeing a full planning application. 
Notwithstanding, the proposed pedestrian access from Stratford 
Road has generated the most support from respondents (63%). 
This is followed by proposals for a circular walk at Pageant Field 
(53%) and the Riverside covered seating (53%). 

The project with the least support is the additional on-site 
accommodation (28%). However, at this stage the Castle are 
only exploring the potential for additional accommodation and 
are not pursing any specific plans. 

In addition to the above there were a number of additional 
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points raised in the ‘further comments’ section. These have 
been reviewed and grouped into the key themes set out below: 

Accommodation: Respondents raised a number of concerns. 
Concerns were raised in respect of negative impacts on 
the local businesses (existing B&B’s, restaurants etc.) who 
rely heavily on Castle visitors for their income. Given the 
recognised sensitivities, the Stables were considered unsuitable 
for future accommodation. Traffic impact and overcrowding at 
the Castle was a further concern. 

Noise: Noise associated with the Jousting Arena was raised. 
Consideration should be given to reducing the volume/base 
sounds. 

Question 4

Are there any other aspects of Warwick Castle that 
you think could be improved?

39% of attendees consider that there are other aspects of 
Warwick Castle that could be improved. A further 39% 
remained unsure. The following points were raised in the 
‘further comments’ section of the survey.

Promotion of Heritage: It was suggested that the Castle 
should continue on the path of the ‘de-Disneyfication’ to promote 
the historic aspects and importance of the heritage asset. 

Improve links to Town Centre: A park and ride and mini 
bus into town centre was suggested.  

Pedestrian Access: Improvements encouraged. Pedestrian 
access would be welcomed into Castle Park. 

Food and Drink: Respondents suggested that upgrades would 
be welcomed. 

Community: Good relations and links to local community 
should also be encouraged. 

Question 5

Overall so you support the plans for the future 
development at Warwick Castle?

Overall, 52% of attendees supported the plans for future 
development at Warwick Castle. Only 7% did not support the 
plans (with 41% remaining unsure). Very few respondents did 
not support the overall proposals. 

The following points were raised in the ‘further comments’ 
section of the survey: Hotel development, height of any new 
development in Stone Yard or Gardeners Yard, noise levels and 
ownership concerns. 

RESPONSE TO FEEDBACK

Overall, the potential future proposals were positively received 
at the consultation event. The Castle have sought to address 
concerns as far as possible within an updated Masterplan 
document. A number of changes have been incorporated into 
the document these are as follows:

1.	 Greater clarity has been given on the status of the 
accommodation proposals. The Castle management are 
not pursuing any specific plans.

2.	 Proposals within the area of the playground are likely to 
comprise renewal of equipment or similar alternative use.

3.	 Changes to the food and drink offer will focus on 
improving existing facilities and will not include a restaurant 
on Long Walk. 

4.	 The following proposals have been removed ‘Royal 
Weekend Party’ and Maintenance Workshop. 

5.	 Addition of statement to confirm that the potential for 
effects on residential amenity, traffic, ecology, trees and 
any other relevant matters will be considered, where 
relevant on a project by project basis. 

CONCLUSION

Warwick Castle has engaged with the Council, local residents, 
businesses and visitors and responded to comments as a result 
of the Public Consultation. The Public Consultation was well 
attended, and it enabled the local community to view the 
potential future proposals set out in the Masterplan and engage 
with the team at the Castle. 

Respondent viewpoints have largely focused on: 

•	 Heritage Conservation; Noise; Traffic and Car Parking; 
Access; Design and Materials; Accommodation; and Local 
Economy (links to Town Centre). 

Feedback on the Masterplan has been largely positive. The 
concerns raised are acknowledged and will be addressed as far 
as possible through the proposals as they come forward.
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DO YOU SUPPORT THE DEVELOPMENT OF THESE OTHER FACILITIES AT WARWICK CASTLE? 
Figure 2 Responses to survey question 3 

WARWICK CASTLE IS A MAJOR VISITOR 
ATTRACTION AND LOCAL EMPLOYER. DO YOU 
AGREE THAT WE SHOULD CONTINUE TO IMPROVE 
FACILITIES AT THE ATTRACTION? 
Figure 1 Responses to survey question 1  

ARE THERE ANY OTHER ASPECTS OF WARWICK 
CASTLE THAT YOU THINK COULD BE IMPROVED? 
Figure 3 Responses to survey question 4 
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